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1. Introduction 
The Tribunal received eight responding submissions in support of retaining the ancestor 
Hannah Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The submissions are 
posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/  
 
The submissions appears on the website as: 

• Document 8 – Responding Submission by R. Nicholas re V. Coburn Submission 
• Document 9 – Responding Submission by C. Dickson on behalf of her family 
• Document 10 – Responding Submission by W. White on behalf of R. Fabian 
• Document 11.1 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.2 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.3 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.4 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.5 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley 
• Document 16 – Submission by M. Lamothe 
• Document 17 – Reply Submission by R. Nicholas 
• Document 18 – Reply Submission by L. Hanley 
• Document 19 – Reply Submission by L. Minor Vahey 

 
This reply report addresses the content of the submissions that are relevant to the Tribunal’s 
inquiry, which is to determine whether Hannah Mannell is identified in a historic record or 
document dated on or before December 31, 1921 in such a way that it would be reasonable to 
conclude she was considered to be an Algonquin or Nipissing, or a sibling of such a person. A 
“sibling of such a person” means a person with a common Algonquin parent.  
 
The submissions refer to documents that are contained in the Enrolment Officer’s Report and 
other submissions and also attach new documents for the Tribunal’s consideration. As noted in 
the Enrolment Officer’s Report, archival documents recording a family’s life events have been 
assigned ALG document numbers; RIN numbers have been assigned to individuals discussed in 
the report to aid in identification. Both RIN numbers and ALG numbers will be referenced in this 
report for ease of discussion. Additional material referenced in this responding report by the 
Enrolment Office are assigned ALG numbers, listed in Appendix A, and attached in Appendix B 
for ease of reference. Documentation submitted by the Respondents can be reviewed with 
their submissions. 

2. Document 9 – Submission from Dickson on behalf of the Yutronkie Family 
The submission is presented in four parts each responding to a previous submission which is 
posted on the Tribunal website, namely: 

Document 1 – Enrolment Officer’s Report Regarding Ancestor Hannah Mannell & 
appendices;  

Document 6 – Submission by V. Coburn regarding Hannah Mannell; and  
Document 7 – Submission by Chief Wendy Jocko on behalf of her community 

https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/
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The Enrolment Officer responds to each of the three parts below. 

2.1. Response to Document 1 – Enrolment Officer’s Report  
The Respondents make three comments on the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as 
Document 1). 

• The Respondents state that the inclusion of Hannah Mannell on the Schedule of 
Ancestors was decided by Justice Chadwick in 2013. 

• The Respondents note that written records providing details of Hannah’s mother are 
not available and most likely never existed.  

• The Respondents cite the map provided on page 6, which is dated 1823, and question 
whether the territorial divisions depicted on the map are accurate to the time of 
Hannah’s conception/birth around 1794-1795. The Respondents did not provide 
alternative maps or supporting documentation to support an alternate view of the 
groups who occupied the relevant territory in the relevant period.  

2.1.a Previous decision by Justice Chadwick 
The Special Resolution passed by the Algonquin Negotiation Representatives Resolution on 
April 20, 2021 (Motion 20210420-01) guides the work of the Tribunal. It specifies in Clause 77 
that: “Any matter brought to the Tribunal for determination shall be heard and be determined 
as a new proceeding, but this does not preclude the Tribunal from considering decisions made 
by other decision-making bodies including with respect to past enrolment processes.” 

2.1.b Extant Records 
The Enrolment Officer’s research findings support the Respondents’ statement regarding the 
absence of records specific to Hannah Mannell’s mother. However, some records, such as the 
registration of the date and place of the birth of Hannah and her sister, do exist and have been 
cited. In other locations and later periods numerous records do exist and have been very useful 
in tracing the identity of individuals, their genealogical connections and geographical residences 
and movements. While birth, baptism, marriage, death, and census records often obscure or 
misrepresent the identity of the many Indigenous people, these records have noted many 
Indigenous families who live in remote households, small clusters of Indigenous families in 
different township, and those living within non-Indigenous settlements. These individuals have 
been recorded by many terms used at the time to indicate their Indigenous status including: 
“Indian,” Algonquin, French breed, etc., which enables experienced researchers and 
genealogists to locate and identify indigenous families. 

2.1.c Identifying Traditional Territory 
The Enrolment Officer notes the importance of historical territories and does not disagree with 
the Respondents that Indigenous peoples shifted territories in the period between the union of 
Hannah Mannell’s parents, her conception and birth (approximately 1792-95) and the 1823 
map. 
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Hannah Mannell’s mother was clearly an Indigenous woman. The question is whether she was 
Algonquin or belonged to another Indigenous nation. The answer to that question may be 
informed by considering a) her natal family’s traditional area/territory, and b) what Indigenous 
nation(s) occupied that territory at the relevant time.  
 
Defining traditional territory in the relevant period, being approximately 1792 to 1794, when 
Hannah’s parent would most likely have made a union prior to Hannah’s birth in August 1795, is 
not simple. The history of the area is characterized by group migrations and shifting use and 
occupation of territory over a period of four centuries beginning at the time of first contact, 
through the development of the commercial fur trade, the signing of Treaty 9 and related 
agreements (1906-8), and culminating in the current location and occupation of contemporary 
reserves and Indigenous settlements.  
 
The Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12) addressed the question of 
identifying the territory with reference to a more scholarly and in-depth review of the use and 
occupation of the region at different time periods. This material is repeated below in reply to 
the Respondent’s comments on the appropriateness of the 1823 map and its relevance to 
ascertaining the territory belonging to the natal family of Hannah’s mother and thus 
pinpointing her tribal identity. 
 
The following review of historical and anthropological scholarly opinion focuses on the 
territorial shifts in the region. In summary, in the relevant period, scholars support the 
identification of the people occupying the area around Moose Factory as Cree, those around 
Kenogamissi and Frederick House as Ojibwa (aka Northern Saulteaux or Northern Ojibwa), and 
those around Abitibi Lake area as Algonquin or possibly Northern Ojibwa (Saulteaux) with a 
group of Cree at New Post.1 A detailed discussion of territorial shifts is outlined below. 
 
Historian Charles A. Bishop, who wrote extensively on sub-arctic Algonquian-speaking peoples, 
notes that the identification and placement of territorial groups prior to A.D. 1821 is a “critical 
problem.” Further remarking that the fur trade “led to shifts in group boundaries among the 
Cree and Ojibwa populations in the lands south of Hudson Bay.” A major difficulty with 
identifying traditional territories lies in the lack of reliable historical data from this early 
period.2 Referring to the relevant period for this inquiry, Bishop notes that “since the interior 
region between Lake Superior and Hudson Bay was not permanently occupied by traders until 
the late 18th century (late 1700s), it is impossible to determine the location of inland groups 
with any degree of certainty before that time, as trader’s account of group locations were 
generally based on hearsay about lands they had not seen.” Bishop advised that, “[a]n 
awareness of these major limitations of the historical data justified caution in making 
socioterritorial identifications and assessing possible geographical shifts.”3  
 

 
1  ALG-40551 page 9 in Enrolment Officer’s Reply Report (posted as Document 12). 
2  ALG-40547 page 158 in Enrolment Officer’s Reply Report (posted as Document 12). 
3  ALG-40547 page 158 in Enrolment Officer’s Reply Report (posted as Document 12). 
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Anthropologists Edward S. Rogers and Garth Taylor write that it is not possible “to draw a rigid 
boundary for the territory of the Northern Ojibwa at any period in their history” and went on to 
state that “population movements and intermarriage with surrounding groups, as well as the 
infusion of other Indian and European culture traits, have contributed to a blurring of 
boundaries.”4 
 
With regard to the subject area, Bishop states that it is not possible “to determine the exact 
geographic demarcation between the Cree groups living near Lake Superior and the 
neighbouring non-Cree groups, the Ojibwa and Algonquin proper to the southeast.”5 
Anthropologist R. F. Ritzenthaler agrees that the period of intense competition between the 
mercantile fur trade companies in the later decades of the 18th century (late 1700s) led to shifts 
in territory. By the opening of the 19th century (early 1800s) he notes the expansion of the 
northern Ojibwa into the territory north of the Great Lakes where they were “considerably 
influenced by the Eastern Cree.”6 
 
Bishop summarizes changes in territory during the height of the fur trade south of Hudson Bay, 
as follows:  
 

Many of the Cree living north of Lake Superior at the time of contact moved westward 
during the 18th century, while in their place arrived Ojibwas and perhaps other 
Algonquians7…In consequence of the territorial shifts, along with a tendency for some 
groups to coalesce around the trading posts … new regional identities and affiliations 
began to take shape. By 1821, when the fur trade stabilized under the monopoly of the 
Hudson's Bay Company, the major divisions of Cree and Ojibwa of the central Shield 
region were established in the sections of the lands between Hudson Bay, Lake Superior, 
and Lake Winnipeg in which they reside in the mid-twentieth century.8 
 

Moose Factory and posts in the Moose River System 
The posts which were frequented by Hannah’s father, John Mannell, were located in the HBC’s 
Moose River District which administered all of the fur trade posts in the region of the Moose 
River and its tributaries.9 This included the sub-district administered from Kenogamissi, which 
functioned from 1794-1821 during which time it was in charge of Kenogamissi, Frederick House, 
Matawagamingue, Flying Post, Pushquagamy Lake, Wowayaston Carrying Place, and Wyaskash 
Lake. 

 
4  ALG-40548 page 231 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
5  ALG-40547 page 158 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
6  ALG-40549 page 744 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
7  The term “Algonquians” refers to a broad language group and includes peoples known historically as 

Ojibwa/Chippewa, Algonquin, Nipissing, Mississauga, Saulteaux, Pottawatomi, Odawa and additional groups of 
Algonquian-speakers stretching from the Atlantic coast to the Rocky Mountains. 

8  ALG-40547 page 160 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
9  ALG-40587 The Moose River District was established in 1672. It administered the fur trade inland posts from 

Moose Factory, which was the District headquarters except for a brief period from 1783-1787 when Eastmain, 
on the east side of James Bay, served that function. 
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According to cultural geographer Victor Lytwyn, the Moose River Cree (who are also known as 
the Swampy Cree and are known in their own language as the Muskekowuck Athinuwick), 
inhabited the broad low-lying swampy lands bordering on James Bay and Hudson Bay. The fur 
traders often referred to them as Lowlanders; they used the term Uplanders to refer to the 
people who came to the bay from the interior travelling down the rivers that drained into 
Hudson and James Bay, such as the Moose River system.  
 
Anthropologist Alanson Skinner, who did field work in the area in 1911, concluded that the 
Swampy Cree were made up of five divisions including the Winnipego-wug or “Coast-people” 
who lived along the shores of James Bay and Hudson Bay; and the Nutcimiu-inu or “South-
inlanders” who lived in the inland forests south and east of the Bay.10 Skinner states that the 
“Northern Saulteaux division of the Ojibway has been steadily encroaching on their [Cree] 
southern borders.”11 
 
The Muskekowuck Athinuwick were closely related and intermingled with the Albany House 
Lowland Cree who traded at Albany House to the northwest of Moose Factory on James Bay.12 
The Cree who remained closest to the HBC trading forts, such as Moose Factory, were known as 
“Homeguard Indians” by the traders. They often worked for the HBC providing provisions and 
labour. They typically restricted their range to about 160 kilometres from the fort prior to the 
inland expansion in the 1770s. At Moose Factory, where the low coastal plain extends a shorter 
distance from the coast, the Homeguard spent more time in the upland area and there was a 
greater overlap between the range of the Homeguard Cree and the Uplanders.13  
 
The territory between the Moose River Cree and the Eastmain Cree on the east side of James 
Bay was generally delineated by the Nottaway River. The Moose River Lowland Cree 
occasionally went to trade at Eastmain on the east side of James Bay. However, the Eastmain 
Cree and the Moose River Lowland Cree were not closely related and were not on friendly 
terms in the 18th century.14 
 
From an early period, HBC traders around Hudson and James Bay recognized the linguistic 
difference between the Cree and Northern Ojibwa.15 By the time the HBC was extending its 
trade posts inland in the 1770s “the boundary between the Lowland Cree and Northern 
Ojibway followed roughly the boundary between the Hudson Bay lowlands and the upland 

 
10  ALG-40551 pagecited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
11  ALG-40551 page-10 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
12  ALG-40550 page 14 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). In 1740 the 

factor at Albany House reported that the Cree who came to his post from Moose River were originally from the 
Albany River. 

13  ALG-40550 pages 15-18; ALG-40547 pages 159-160; ALG-40554 page 228 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s 
Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 

14  ALG-40550 page 57-58 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). Lytwyn 
postulates that the administrative practices of the HBC weakened earlier links between the groups on the east 
and west side of James Bay. 

15  ALG-40550 page 45 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
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shield region.”16 The post at Moose Factory was in the lowlands and thus inhabited by Cree; the 
posts at Frederick House and Kenogamissi where in the upland shield area and thus inhabited 
by Northern Ojibway, perhaps intermingled with some Cree. 
 
The people known historically as the Ojibwa/Ojibwe/Ojibway traditionally occupied the land 
south of the divide between Hudson Bay drainage system and the Lakes Superior and Huron 
drainage system. As the fur trade expanded, they migrated west and north. North of the height 
of land, they came into contact with the Cree, who were shifting their trapping area southward 
from the lowland areas along James and Hudson Bay where early trade posts had been 
established. Baldwin’s study of early fur trade in the Moose-Missinaibi River region identifies 
people in that river system as Cree and Ojibwa who established themselves in the Moose 
drainage system as a result of these migrations.17 
 
Skinner identified a group of Ojibwa, which he named the Northern Saulteaux, as an offshoot of 
the Southern Saulteaux whose traditional territory lay along the north shore of Lake Superior. 
According to Skinner, they were the most isolated of the Ojibwa groups occupying the region 
north of Lake Superior and east of Lake Winnipeg around the HBC posts on the Bay. Skinner 
believed that the Indigenous people of New Post and Lake Abitibi “also belong to this 
division.”18 Skinner provides a sketch map of the division between the Cree and the Northern 
Saulteaux (Ojibwa) on page 10, agreeing with other scholars that the Northern Saulteaux 
(Ojibwa) had steadily encroached upon the southern boundary of the Cree. 
 
Lytwyn concludes: 
 

The fur trade during the period 1783 to 1821 throughout the north-western interior of 
the continent was affected by extreme competition between the HBC and various fur 
companies based in the St Lawrence River valley that eventually amalgamated to form 
the North West Company (NWC). The peak period of fur trade activity occurred between 
1790 and 1810, when record numbers of fur traders and trading posts were in 
operation.19  

 
This competition was apparent in the Moose River District during the relevant period for this 
inquiry. HBC traders referred to the competition as “Canadians,” when writing in the post 
journals from Frederick House, Kenogamissi and other posts of the Moose River District.  
The merger of the HBC and the NWC in 1821 ended the period of intense competition and 
resulted in the closing of many fur trade posts. In the Moose River District, many of the smaller 
posts had closed prior to the merger.20  

 
16  ALG-40550 page 51 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
17  ALG-40552 page 57 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
18  ALG-40551 pages 117-118 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
19  ALG-40550 page 175 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). Lytwyn 

references Plate 62 Historical Atlas of Canada Vol. 1 [ALG-40170]. 
20  ALG-40550 page 200 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). From 1794 

to 1821 the Kenogamissi River District was a subdistrict in the Moose River District. The posts and outposts 
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Lake Abitibi 
The question of the Indigenous identity of the people around Lake Abitibi is germane to the 
discussion. The Abitibi River and Little Abitibi River are part of the Moose river drainage system. 
 
In the 17th century (1600s), the Abitibi people, believed to be Cree at that time, were one of the 
named groups in northern Ontario. By the early 1700s, Abitibi people were trading at posts at 
James and Hudson Bay. For example, a 1707 French report indicated that “Tabitibis” who used 
to trade at Temiscaming were taking their pelts to the trade with the HBC on Hudson Bay.21 The 
Historical Atlas of Canada provides several maps that depict the location of different groups in 
the 17th and 18th centuries. The people around Lake Abitibi are identified as Cree along with 
other people in the Moose Drainage system, as follows: 

• Early 17th century, from south to north: Timiscimi (Cr16), Abitibi (Cr17), Piscoutagami 
(Cr18), Outchichagamiouetch (Cr12), and Monsoni (Cr2) at the mouth of the Moose 
River.22 

• 1726-1739, from south to north: Timiscimi (Cr17), Abitibi (Cr16), Piscoutagami (Cr20), 
Outchichagamiouetch (Cr21), and Monsoni (Cr2) at the mouth of the Moose River.23 

• 1752-1755, from south to north: Timiscimi (Cr17), Abitibi (Cr16), Piscoutagami (Cr20), 
and Outchichagamiouetch (Cr21) No group is named at the mouth of the Moose River.24 

 
After the HBC merged with the North West Company (NWC) in 1821, HBC traders along the Bay 
reported trading with Abitibi people in 1826. They identified some of those coming to trade 
from north of Lake Abitibi as Anishinaabe and others as Cree.25 Pollock states that by the early 
19th century (i.e., early 1800s) the people of Lake Abitibi region were being classed as 
Algonquins. 
 
In his 1988 paper supporting the comprehensive claim of Quebec Algonquins, Jacques Frenette 
showed the Algonquin territory at the end of the British Period (1867) as encompassing Lake 
Temiskaming, Lake Abitibi, the southern portion of Little Abitibi River, the head of the Montreal 
River, and Temagami. Frederick House would be located in this area. Frenette does not include 
the Mattagami River or Lake Mattagami as being in Algonquin territory.26 Kenogamissi is 
located at the head of the Mattagami River.  
 

 
operating from the Kenogamissi were: Kenogamissi, Frederick House, Matawagamingue, Flying Post, 
Pushquagamy Lake, Wowayaston Carrying Place, and Wyaskash Lake. 

21  ALG-40547 pages 159-160; ALG-40553 pages 217-230; and ALG-40553 page 12 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s 
Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 

22  ALG-40555 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). On the maps, the 
locations are given an alpha prefix indicating their nation (e.g. Cr for Cr; Al for Algonquin) followed by a number 
to cross-reference in the key which provides the historic name of the group. 

23  ALG-40556 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
24  ALG-40557 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
25  ALG-40553 page 12 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
26  ALG-40558 page 163 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
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New Post was an HBC post on the Abitibi River (1867-1925) initially established to supply Lake 
Abitibi families who no longer wanted to make “the arduous trip north to Moose Factory for 
supplies.” Cree at this location signed Treaty 9 in 1905 and had a reserve set aside for them. 
New Post is located between the Abitibi River and the Little Abitibi River.27 The location is now 
known as Taykwa Tagamou, a Cree community. It is encompassed within the Abitibi area, 
indicating a historic Cree presence in this Algonquin territory. 
 
Frank Speck’s 1913 study of the Timiskaming reports that the Timiskaming people regard the 
people of Lake Abitibi as belonging to their own dialectic and cultural group identifying them as 
Abi’tibi anicenabi or Blue-water people.28 The term Anicenabi (Anishinaabe) is used by 
Algonquins and other closely-related linguistic neighbours, such as those known historically as 
Ojibwa, Mississauga, Ottawa/Odawa and Potawatomie.29 The Temiskaming people are 
Algonquin. The descendants of the Abitibi people referenced by Speck are members of the 
Wahgoshig and Pikogan First Nation communities. 
 
Anthropologist William Jenkins conducted fieldwork at Lake Abitibi in 1939. He indicated that 
the Abitibi Band was then surrounded by Ojibwa to the west, Cree to the north, Montagnais 
(Attikamek) to the east, and the Temiskaming Algonkins to the south. He also noted that 
according to the fieldwork conducted by McPherson in 1930 the Abitibi people are an offshoot 
of Ojibwa.30 (Note that Algonquins are closely related to other Anishinaabe, such as the historic 
Ojibwa, and were often described as a branch of the Ojibwa or Chippewa). 
 
Jenkins’ sketch of the hunting grounds of the Abitibi Band in 1939 depicts the hunting grounds 
of 40 families noting their band of origin. An examination of Jenkins’ sketch map in conjunction 
with his attached table shows that the Abitibi Band had a mix of origins, being: original Abitibi 
families (24); families from Ruperts House (8); North Temiskaming (1); and families whose place 
of origin was unknown (7).31 Ruperts House is a Cree community on the east side of James Bay, 
now known as Waskaganish First Nation. No Abitibi Band hunting grounds were noted west of 
the Abitibi River; Frederick House is located west of the Abitibi River. 
 
This information suggests that by the early twentieth century when Jenkins conducted his 
fieldwork, the hunting grounds of the Wahgoshig people contained a mix of families with roots 
from the Lake Abitibi area, from Temiskaming to the south, Waskaganish to the north-east, as 
well as families whose place of origin could not be recalled by any informant. Jenkins’ data was 
collected over 140 years after the relevant period.  
 

 
27  ALG-40553 page 13 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
28  ALG-40553 pages 5 and 11 citing ALG-40559, as cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as 

Document 12). 
29  ALG-40553 page 11 citing ALG-40559, as cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as 

Document 12). 
30  ALG-40556 pages 1-2 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
31  ALG-40556 pages 28-31 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). 
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Archaeologist John Pollock notes that the groups immediately north of Lake Abitibi were Cree 
speakers and then comments on the fluctuation of tribal groups in vicinity of Lake Abitibi in the 
last two centuries. He writes, “[t]hough the boundary between these Ojibwa-speakers and the 
northern Cree-speakers appears to have fluctuated slightly over the past two centuries, [since 
late 1700s, early 1800s] the Long Sault and Little Abitibi Lake areas were clearly within Abitibi 
Algonquin territory.”32 
 
Pollock produced a sketch map of the traditional boundaries of the Wahgoshig/Abitibiwinni 
people who are the descendants of the Abitibi people who adhered to Treaty 9. He depicts a 
core area surrounded by an overlap area, commenting that “the area shown on Figure 3 
represents an overlap area shared by both the New Post and Abitibi (Wahgoshig) Peoples.” 
Pollock further comments that “the exact size and nature of the overlap may be more of a 
political question than an historical one.”33 Frederick House is outside of the core Wahgoshig 
FN territory and the overlap area. 

2.2 Response to Document 6 – Submission by V. Coburn  
The Respondents request that the opinion of V. Coburn not be considered by the Tribunal in the 
matter of Ancestor Hannah Mannell. This request is made with reference to the disclaimer 
included in the Coburn response. Two statements are specifically highlighting: 

a) Veldon Coburn is stating: “As such, the analysis should not be used as a substitute 
for consultation with genealogy, legal or other professional advisers and experts. 
Before making any decision or taking any action, you should consult a professional.” 

b) The author is not responsible for errors or omissions, or for the results obtained from 
the use of this information. 

 
The Enrolment Officer has no comment on this request. 

2.3 Response to Document 7 – Submission by Chief W. Jocko  
The Respondents request that the submission by Chief Wendy Jocko be not considered by the 
Tribunal in the matter of Ancestor Hannah Mannell based on three points: 

1. Document 7 was submitted late. (It was dated March 7, 2023) 
2. It “does not contain any relevant new information but is merely an opinion piece.” 
3. “In reviewing Darryl Leroux’s background, it is our feeling that he may have a bias 

whether unconscious or explicit and as such his opinion should not be considered.” 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no comment on the request by the Respondents. 

 

 
32  ALG-40553 pages 4-5 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12). Pollock 

based this statement on fieldwork conducted by John M. Cooper and Regina Flannery in the 1920s and 1930s 
and the work of William Jenkins in 1939. The Long Sault area is close to modern-day Cochrane east of Clute on 
the Abitibi River. 

33  ALG-40553 page 16 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12).  
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3. Document 10 – Responding Submission by W. White on behalf of R. Fabian 
The Tribunal received a submission from W. White on behalf of R. Fabian in support of retaining 
the ancestor Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. 
The Respondent’s submission is a 22-page report consisting of written text and supporting 
documents. The submission is posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/ 
 
The submission appears on the website as: 

• Document 10 – Responding Submission by W. White on behalf of R. Fabian 
 
This reply report comments on the content of the submission that is within the purview of the 
Enrolment Officer to address and is germane to the issues before the Tribunal. The issues raised 
by the Respondent are organized into sub-sections. Some individuals discussed by the 
Respondent are identified by RIN numbers for ease of identification; documents referenced by 
the Respondent that are discussed and appended in Enrolment Officer’s reports are cited in 
footnotes by ALG number, and report number (as posted) for ease of reference and 
consultation with original material. 

3.1 Brief Chronology  
The Respondent provides a brief timeline of the history of Mr. Fabian’s enrolment and the 
addition of Hannah Mannell to the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors and challenges to her 
inclusion from 2000 to 2021.  
 
The Enrolment Officer has no comments to make regarding this timeline. 

3.2 Decision (2023) W. White 
In this section, the Respondent states “[T]hat the applicant is seeking to have Hannah Mannell 
(Mannall) added to the list of Algonquin Ancestors.” This is not correct. Hannah Mannell is 
currently included on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The purpose of the Tribunal inquiry 
is to determine if Hannah Mannell is properly included on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors 
as defined by the Special Resolutions of April 20, 2021 and January 22, 2020.  
 
The Respondent then analyses how he would apply deference to this matter. 
 
The Special Resolution passed by the Algonquin Negotiation Representatives Resolution on 
April 20, 2021 (Motion 20210420-01) guides the work of the Tribunal. It specifies in Article 77 
that: “Any matter brought to the Tribunal for determination shall be heard and be determined 
as a new proceeding, but this does not preclude the Tribunal from considering decisions made 
by other decision-making bodies including with respect to past enrolment processes.” 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no further comment on the reference to the 2013 decision. 

https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/
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3.3 Legal Principle – Deference and Simplistic Fictional Example of Deference 
The Respondent argues that the principle of deference may be used when adjudicators find 
themselves at an impasse. He provides an example of the use of Elders and oral history. 
 
The Special Resolution passed by the Algonquin Negotiation Representatives Resolution on 
April 20, 2021 (Motion 20210420-01) guides the work of the Tribunal. It specifies in Articles 6 to 
8 that the Tribunal may consider oral history. 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no further comment on this section. 

3.4 The Objective 
The Respondent states that his objective is to determine whether, on the balance of 
probability, Hannah Mannell meets the definition of Algonquin Ancestor and is from Algonquin 
Territory.  
 
“Algonquin Ancestor” is defined in Article 1 of the Special Resolution of January 22, 2020 and 
referenced in the Special Resolution of April 20, 2021 as follows: 

“Algonquin Ancestor” means a person who was born on or before July 15, 1897 
and identified in an historic record or document dated on or before December 
31, 1921, in such a way that it would be reasonable to conclude that the person 
was considered to be an Algonquin or Nipissing, or a sibling of such a person, and 
includes the persons listed in the schedule of Algonquin Ancestors, as amended 
by the Algonquin Negotiation Representatives from time to time and which may 
be viewed at the Algonquins of Ontario Consultation Office and Algonquin 
community offices. In this definition, a sibling of a person is a person with a 
common Algonquin parent” [emphasis added]  

3.5 Research Concerns 

3.5.a The absence of ethnic / tribal identifiers 
The Respondent includes a paragraph quoting “Research Report – Historical Metis in Ontario, 
Timmins, Cochrane and the Abitibi Region” by Gwen Reimer and Jean Phillippe Chartrand dated 
2001.34 The Respondent cites the opinion of the authors with regards to the census collections 
in which identifiers do not exist. The Respondent’s summary of the reasons for racial identifiers 
not existing on census returns are generalised, and while they are valid considerations, the 
quoted material is in regard to the Abitibi region as reflected on the 1901 census. 
 
The Enrolment Officer reiterates the census information recorded for the subject ancestor and 
her family. In the case of Hannah Mannell specifically, she was only enumerated on one census 
return, being the 1861 census at Algona, Renfrew County. She was listed as living with her 
husband Charles, and their son Richard and his family. Hannah was noted as being born in 

 
34  No page numbers are cited for the material quoted or summarized from this 199-page report. 
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North America, along with Charles, whose occupation was noted as “farmer.” The family was 
listed as belonging to the Church of England. Their home was said to have been built in 1833. 
No one in the family was enumerated as “Coloured Persons, Mulatto or Indian,” which was the 
only origin question on the 1861 census.35  
 
In the case of Hannah’s husband Charles and family, he was enumerated on the 1825 census for 
Vaudreuil County, Lower Canada (Quebec).36 The names of the individuals living in the 
household were not listed and no other identifiers, such as ethnicity or religion, were asked on 
this census. However, it is worth noting that the Thomas family were not enumerated in the 
Algonquin or Nipissing Villages at the Lake of Two Mountains mission which was a separate and 
distinct census return.37 The Algonquin Village at the Lake of Two Mountains was enumerated 
on more than one occasion with individuals ethnic/tribal affiliations clearly identified. Likewise, 
many families in Algona Township of Renfrew County were listed with Indigenous indicators on 
the 1861 census. On later census records, none of Hannah Mannell’s descendants were 
identified as being Metis, Indian, Half-Breed or Algonquin, at a time when other Algonquins 
were identified as such, for example numerous Indigenous families were identified on the 1881 
census for the newly created Algonquin Reserve at Golden Lake. 

3.5.b 2nd Nation Documentation and Census Collection 
The Respondent states that “2nd Nation” documentation should be reviewed with skepticism, as 
it does not represent the world view of the Algonquin people. First Nations individuals neither 
authored, wrote, nor understood written documents.  
 
While there is merit to these concerns, this statement does not consider repeated pattern of 
petitions presented by Algonquin and Nipissing chiefs describing their territory in detail, 
recounting their resource harvesting practices, the negative impact of encroachment on their 
lands, and praying for protection and relief as specified in the Royal Proclamation of 1763, a 
copy of which they held and referenced repeatedly. Algonquin and Nipissing chiefs sent over 65 
petitions to government in a 125-year period from 1772 to 1897. The petitions contained lists 
of leaders and family heads and clearly identified their people and their land. 

3.5.c Census Data 
The Respondent notes that errors made on census returns were not uncommon, particularly 
assumptions about ethnicity. The Enrolment Officer does not disagree with this statement. 
 
The Respondent stated that “it was not uncommon and likely the accepted practice for 
members of the family to default to the nationality of the head of household.” The Enrolment 
Officer notes that enumerators were instructed to assign the father’s ethnicity to the children 
in his household. On census returns with a “colour” question, the designation “W” for White 
was to be applied to persons of “pure” White ancestry only; children of mixed-racial unions 

 
35  ALG-40223 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 11. 
36  ALG-40251 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 12. 
37  ALG-40054 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 12. 
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were to be given the same designation as the non-White parent, regardless if the non-White 
parent was the mother or father. Therefore, the children of a White father and an Indigenous 
mother would be identified as “R” for Red like their mother; while the father would be noted as 
“W” for White. The “Colour” question was only included on the 1901 census. Other census 
tracts contained question related to ethnicity, except for the 1891 census.38 

3.5.d Let the Record Show 
The Respondent states that the submission dated February 22, 2023 by V. Coburn (posted as 
Document 6) fails to disclose that V. Coburn is a member of Pikwakanagan First Nation, “with a 
financial beneficiary interest in the outcome therefore is in a conflict of interest.”  
 
The Chair of the Tribunal specifically sent a letter to all persons who are enrolled (whether on 
the basis of the Proposed Beneficiary Criteria or on the basis of their membership in the 
Algonquins of Pikwakanagan First Nation) inviting them to participate in the Tribunal’s inquiries. 
Also, the Tribunal’s website page (https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/) confirms that the 
Tribunal welcomes submissions with respect to the authenticity, reliability and origin of 
documents appended to the Enrolment Officer’s Report.  

3.6 Reflection of the Treaty Environment 
The Respondent provided a paragraph from a report by James Morrison entitled “Treaty 
Research Report – Treaty 9 (1905-1906)”. As noted in the quotation from Morrison Treaty 9 
was signed between 1905-1906 between the governments of Canada and Ontario and the 
Ojibwa and Cree in of present-day Northern Ontario including the Hudson and James Bay 
drainage basin. The signing of this Treaty took place over 100 years after the birth of Hannah 
Mannell.  
 
The Enrolment Officer has no comment to make on this as it is not germane to the issue at 
hand.  

3.7 Ojibwe, Oji-Cree, or Algonquin Territory Pre-Treaty Period 
The Respondent states that Cree, Ojibway and Algonquin FN visited the Post at Kenogamissi 
Lake, further discussing the Algonquian groupings. 
 
The question of the Indigenous identity of the people around Lake Abitibi is germane to the 
discussion. As stated in Section 2.1.c above, the groups who own reserves and reside in 
Indigenous settlements today have often been displaced from the territories held by their 
ancestors over two centuries ago. Indigenous territories have shifted considerably between the 
time of contact and introduction of the commercial fur trade, the signing of Treaty 9 and 

 
38  The 1901 census recorded “Colour” in column 5; “Racial or Tribal Origin” in column 14, “Nationality” in column 

15 and “Mother Tongue” in column 33. The 1911 census recorded “Racial or Tribal Origin” in column 14 and 
“Nationality” in column 15. The 1891 census had no ethnic origin question, recording only the place of birth of 
those enumerated and their parents. The 1871 and 1881 census recorded “Origin” in column 13. The 1861 
census recorded “Colored Person, Mulatto or Indian” in column 13. 

https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/
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related agreements (1906-8), and the current configuration of reserves and Indigenous 
settlements. A detailed overview was provided in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report 
(posted as Document 12) and summarized above in section 2.1.c regarding the issue of 
Indigenous migrations and shifting territory focusing on the region around Moose Factory, 
Kenogamissi on the Mattagami River, Frederick House, and Lake Abitibi.39 The summary in that 
report is pertinent to identifying traditional territory during the relevant period; it cautions 
against drawing conclusions based on the current location and identity of modern-day First 
Nations.  

3.8 Birth and Marriage 
The Respondent provided a copy of the birth record for Hannah Mannell, and a copy of the 
Thomas Family Bible noting Hannah’s birth date. Using these two pieces of documentation the 
Respondent asserts that Hannah’s mother was definitively from Kenogamissi Lake. 
 
The birth record and Family Bible are discussed in the Enollment Officers Report (posted as 
Document 1) on page 6 and page 11, respectively. Hannah’s birth date is also confirmed on the 
record of her marriage in 1824.40 It is clear that Hannah was born at Kenogamissi in August 
1795 and that her father John Mannell had travelled to Kenogamissi to establish a post there in 
July 1794. Prior to that time, he had been in charge of the post at Frederick House. Nothing in 
the written records support a clear indication of when the union between Hannah’s mother and 
father began or the location of her mother’s family’s traditional territory. Several options are 
possible including Kenogamissi, Frederick House, or Moose Factory, which are all areas 
frequented by John Mannell in the years prior to Hannah’s birth. 
 
The possibility of Hannah’s mother being from Moose Factory is supported by John’s annual 
trips to Moose Factory which was then the headquarters for the HBC district in which he 
worked. For example, John was documented as being at Moose Factory during the critical 
period from June 27 to October 7, 179341 and again briefly in late June 179442 before setting 
out to establish Kenogamissi on June 30, 1794. It is possible that he formed a union with 
Hannah’s mother in Moose Factory in the summer/early fall of 1793 or the early summer of 
1794 (14 months before Hannah’s birth) and brought her with him to Kenogamissi when he 
went to build the new post there. 
 

 
39  ALG-40561 cited in the Enrolment Officers Responding Report to V. Coburn (posted as Document 13) on page 

10. Between 1794 and 1822 Moose Factory was the HBC headquarters for the Kenogamissi River District. That 
district operated posts at Kenogamissi, Frederick House, Matawagamingue, Flying Post, Pushquagamy Lake, 
Wowayaston Carrying Place and Wyaskah Lake. Kenogamissi Post was established specifically to prevent the 
“Canadians” who came into the country through the Lake Abitibi route from capturing the trade from the local 
Indigenous trappers. 

40  ALG-14788 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 10. 
41  See notes from post journals in Appendix 3 of the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 

24. 
42  See notes from post journals in Appendix 3 of the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 

25. 
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There is no documentation that clearly indicates the traditional area occupied by Hannah’s 
maternal family. Conjecture regarding the timing between her parent’s union and conception 
and the known movements of John Mannall suggest that several areas are possible (Frederick 
House, Kenogamissi or Moose Factory). No definitive conclusion can be drawn from the 
available historical documentation. Having said that, it is nonetheless important to consider 
which Indigenous nation occupied these districts at the relevant time in order to further assess 
the likelihood that Hannah Mannell’s mother was, or was not, Algonquin. As noted in section 
2.1.c above and fully developed in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as 
Document 12) these locations were occupied by different Algonquian-speaking peoples. 

3.9 The Questions at Hand 
The Respondent summarizes the question at hand regarding Hannah’s Indigenous heritage as 
being informed by the identity of the Indigenous group(s) “who were in control of and/or 
extensively used the area at the time that John Mannell formed a relationship with Hannah 
Mannell’s mother.” (Quoted from the Enrolment Officer’s Report, posted as Document 1 on 
page 17.) 

3.9.a Algonquins at Kenogamissi and Abitibi IR #70 
The Respondent argues that Hannah Mannell’s mother was Algonquin due, in part, to his 
position that Algonquins were known to be trading at Kenogamissi Lake and that the modern-
day Abitibi Reserve is considered Algonquin. The Respondent also discusses which groups were 
in control of the area at the relevant time. 
 
No documentation has been provided that shows Algonquin people trading at Kenogamissi. A 
discussion of historic territories is addressed in Section 2.1.c above.  

3.9.b Algonquin wife favoured 
The Respondent argues that John Mannell would favour an Algonquin woman as a marriage 
partner to enhance his trade opportunities and relationship with local people and due to her 
skill set. While these factors were clearly prominent in the early fur trade period, the trend 
toward favouring the mixed-blood daughters of fur traders is examined in the literature and 
cited in section 2.2 of the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted at Document 12). The 
historical context is summarized below. 
 
Jennifer Brown’s book Strangers in Blood notes that 18th century officers would have preferred 
Indian women as partners due to their value in forming alliances between the fur traders and 
their Indigenous group. However, Brown’s study shows that by the period of Hannah Mannell’s 
birth, Indian women ceased to be the preferred partners. She writes: 
 

From the late 1700s on, company men increasingly tended to find their fur 
trade mates among the mixed-blood daughters of their senior colleagues. 
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These daughters might be broadly classed as Indian, yet they also had a 
specific paternally derived identity.43 

 
The chapter from which this quotation is taken is entitled “Hudson’s Bay Company Men and 
Mixed-Blood Women 1770-1821.” It includes several examples from the Albany and Moose 
Districts, summarizing the trend in this period as follows:  

There were perhaps four main reasons why they [mixed-blood women] were 
preferred over Indian women from the late 1700s on, aside from the fact that 
there were more of them. Two of these reasons relate to declining fur trade 
needs for Indian women, and two reflect the increasing advantages that 
company daughters could offer their husbands and children in the changing 
fur trade social context of the early 1800s.44  

Most relevant to the Moose District, Brown states “[i]n the first place, by the 1790s the 
company had been established in a broad region west and south of Hudson Bay for many 
decades; and in areas where trade contacts were already made, alliances with Indian women 
for trade purposes were less important.”45 Brown provides an example of the wife of chief 
factor John Thomas and “Mrs. Mannall” provisioning the post in 1808. Hannah would have 
been about 13 years old at the time; this is clearly a reference to her unnamed mother. 

 
Historian Sylvia Van Kirk, in her seminal work on women in the fur trade, Many Tender Ties, 
concurs with Brown’s assessment of the changes in country marriage patterns. In her chapter 
“Daughters of the Country” she writes that Hudson Bay traders valued the cross-cultural skills 
and abilities of mixed-blood women and the traders sought unions for their mixed-blood 
daughters within the company.46  

 
This reply report is not suggesting that traders of the relevant period never pursued unions with 
Indigenous women in order to promote trading alliances with their Indigenous families. This 
remains a possibility. However, the evolution of the fur trade across the country shifted from a 
preference for unions with Indian women to a preference for unions with the mixed-blood 
daughters of other traders. In addition, this report is not suggesting that Hannah Mannell’s 
mother was necessarily the mixed-blood daughter of a trader as there is no document that 
would confirm that to be the case. It is, nonetheless, a possibility. This reply is making the point 
that that, as with all historical issues, time and place is critical to understanding social, 
geographic and cultural trends and that something that may have been predominant in one 
period may have waned over time. 

 

 
43  ALG-40231 page 70 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 8. 
44  ALG-40231 page 73 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 8. 
45  ALG-40231 page 73 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 8. 
46  ALG-40563 pages 107-111 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12) on 

page 13. 
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Having said that, the fact that Hannah Mannell’s mother was never named or referenced in any 
document could be interpreted as supporting the possibility that she was of purely Indigenous 
descent as opposed to being the mixed-blood daughter of a trader who might have been 
named or referenced. 

3.9.c Examining the Indigenous group or groups who were in control of the area. 
The Respondent queries the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1, page 18) 
regarding authoritative sources of the area being Cree or Ojibway Territory. The Respondent 
also offers examples of “known” Algonquins trading with John Mannell as named in his diaries, 
and the relationship between Hannah Mannell and the Algonquins at Golden Lake.  
 
Further discussion with regards to the historic territories is addressed in Section 2.1.c above. 
 
The Respondent states that a man named Isaac Constant, who is mentioned in the Kenogamissi 
diary, is Algonquin. The identity of this man is not supported by any additional documentation 
or proof. The reference in the Kenogamissi Post diary entry dated October 14, 1792 is as 
follows: “Isaac Constant and Michael China [illegible surname] with three labourers entered the 
Lake with a Canoe load of Trading goods and Provisions, they came from Abbitibbi over the long 
carrying place have more Goods behind and are intended to spend the Winter here.” A diary 
entry of the next day referred to them as “The Canadians” who established themselves on 
Devil’s Island.47 A careful reading of the entry in historical context indicates that Isaac Constant 
is a free trader, a “Canadian” who has brought European trading goods into the territory with 
his partner and labourers to establish a post to trade with the local Indigenous trappers. These 
men are traders not trappers. There is no indication whatsoever that he is Indigenous.  
 
The Respondent refers to the submission by L. Hanley (posted as Document 5) as shedding 
credible light on the relationship between Charles Thomas and Hannah Mannell with the 
Algonquin people at Golden Lake. The extracts reflect trading relationships and interactions 
between neighbours but do not speak directly to the Algonquins having a familial relationship 
with Charles Thomas and Hannah Mannell. A petition cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report 
indicates that the local Algonquin Chief complained about Charles Thomas and his son’s 
trapping on his land in 1834 and referenced them as “White.” This text does not provide any 
further information about Hannah Mannell’s ethnic identity. 

3.10 Treaty Thoughts 
The Respondent discusses the territorial area of Hannah Mannell’s birthplace as being 
Algonquin specifically with relation to Treaty 9. 
 
Further discussion with regards to the historic territories is addressed in Section 2.1.c above. 
The Enrolment Officers has no further comments on the relevance of Treaty 9 (1905-06) or the 
people that entered into that treaty more than a century after Hannah’s birth. 

 
47  Cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12) on page 22. 
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3.11 Vaudreuil PQ to Golden Lake 
The Respondent states that the facts strongly suggest Hannah was Algonquin, based on the 
supposition that her spouse Charles Thomas and the family moved to Golden Lake to “keep her 
among her people knowing that one day they would be in a more definable Algonquin 
Territory.” 
 
The Respondent assumes that Charles Thomas was employed at Golden Lake in order to be 
close to his wife’s Algonquin community. The Enrolment Officer notes that Charles Thomas was 
the son of an English fur trader father and a Cree mother from Moose Factory. The Thomas and 
Mannell families were clearly known to each at Moose Factory as cited by Jennifer Brown’s 
1808 reference to the Mrs. Thomas and Mrs. Mannell working together at the post (cited above 
in section 3.9.b) and the fact that the male progenitors of the families were HBC traders, John 
Thomas being the superior of John Mannell.  
 
Prior to being posted to Golden Lake by his HBC masters, the HBC sent Charles and his family 
(which included Hannah) to various posts in western Canada such as Athabasca, Cumberland 
and the Peace River District. His movements between posts are document in Section E.4 of the 
Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1). No evidence has been provided to show 
there was any prior relationship between Charles Thomas or his family with Algonquins at 
Golden Lake. The movements of Charles Thomas and his family are further detailed in section 
4.2 below. 
 
With regard to the Thomas family being enumerated in Vaudreuil and not at Lake of Two 
Mountains in 1825, the Respondent suggests that the Thomas Family intentionally “detached 
themselves from the mixed FN community.” The Enrolment Officer points out that the Thomas-
Mannell family was living in Vaudreuil, which was not known to be an Indigenous or Algonquin 
community. It is located on the south side of Lake of Two Mountains, across the lake from the 
Algonquin/Nipissing mission located on the north shore of that lake. 
 
The Algonquins noted on the 1825 census for the Lake of Two Mountains mission were the 
families that petitioned for the Reserve land at Golden Lake beginning in the 1850s. The 
complaint against Charles and his sons was dated 1834, the year after Charles Thomas and 
Hannah Mannell moved to Golden Lake. 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no further comments on the motivation of Charles and Hannah put 
forward in this section. 

3.12 Other Reasons 
The Respondents discusses the oral history surrounding Mr. Fabian, and his continued visits to 
the area around Golden Lake.  
 
The Enrolment Officer has no comments on oral family history.  
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4. Documents 11.1 to 11.5 – Responding Submissions by L. Hanley  
The Tribunal received a responding submission from L. Hanley in support of retaining the 
ancestor Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The 
submission is posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/ 
 
The submissions appear in five parts on the website as: 

• Document 11.1 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.2 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.3 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.4 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  
• Document 11.5 – Responding Submission by L. Hanley  

 
This reply report addresses the content in the Respondent’s submission that is relevant to the 
Tribunal’s inquiry, which is to determine whether Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) is 
identified in a historic record or document dated on or before December 31, 1921 in such a way 
that it would be reasonable to conclude that she was considered to be an Algonquin or 
Nipissing, or a sibling of such a person. A “sibling of such a person” means a person with a 
common Algonquin parent.  
 
The Respondent’s submission refers to some documents and facts that are contained in the 
Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1). As noted in the Enrolment Officer’s Report, 
archival documents recording a family’s life events have been assigned ALG document 
numbers; RIN numbers have been assigned to individuals discussed in the report to aid in 
identification. RIN numbers, ALG document numbers, and/or page numbers of existing reports 
will be referenced in this report for ease of discussion.  

4.1 Document 11.1 responding to submission from V. Coburn and W. Jocko 
The Respondent submitted a 5-page report in response to the report by V. Coburn (posted as 
Document 6 ), the submission by Chief Wendy Jocko (posted as Document 7), and in support of 
the reply submission by R. Nicholas (posted as Document 8). The submission includes pages 
from the Manitoba Archives website about the Frederick House HBC post and the HBC 
biographical sheet for John Mannell.  
 
The Respondent submits that V. Coburn erroneously states (on pages 4-9 of his submission) 
that Frederick House closed down c. 1795. The Respondent attached the Manitoba website 
pages for Frederick House and John Mannell’s HBC report to refute this point.  
 
The Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) provided additional documentation 
that also indicates Frederick House was open and not closed. The documentation includes 
detailed summaries of John Mannell’s yearly activities based on HBC journals which are 
summarized in Appendix 3 of the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1). The 
references to Frederick House in the HBC journals continue during this period and for the next 

https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/
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few years (e.g. June 1794 to July 1797) indicating that the post at Frederick House was still 
active until at least 1797 (see notations on pages 26 to 27 of Enrolment Officer’s Report, posted 
as Document 1). These post journals also indicate travel between Kenogamissi and Frederick 
House during the winter months of 1794/1795. 
 
The Respondent states that she disagrees with the comment made by the submission of Chief 
Jocko with regards to information about Charles Thomas, and “misinformation by Mr. Leroux 
and remarks made about Hannah [sic] conception and birth and importantly the burial and 
baptism of family members at the Mission Church at Pikwakanagan.” The Respondent does not 
expand on the specific points in this part of her submission. 
 
The submission by Chief Wendy Jocko (posted as Document 7) referenced the complaint made 
by Chief Makwa against Charles Thomas and his family. This February 1834 complaint is laid out 
in detail in the Enrolment Officer’s Report on page 12 (posted as Document 1).48 

 
Chief Makwa was Jean Baptiste Otiskwekijik dit Makwa (aka Jean Baptiste Otiskwekijik, RIN 
#7277), a Nipissing Chief whose name was listed on the 1833 petition requesting land for the 
Algonquin and Nipissing people.49 His name is listed on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. In 
the above cited letter, Indian Superintendent Hughes described his land as being on the 
Bonnechere River. A survey plan of the Bonnechere River made in 1848 shows “MaQua’s” 
House and Thomas Point. Five unidentified buildings were marked just west of Makwa’s along 
the shore; four buildings were shown on Thomas Point. The plan also shows the old HBC trading 
post, Thomas Point, and “Indian settlement” on Golden Lake.50 An 1853 topographical map 
shows the “Thomas House” just east of the “Old H.B.C. Post” across the lake from “Indian 
clearings” located on what was later set aside as the Golden Lake Indian Reserve.51 
 
The submission by Chief Wendy Jocko (posted as Document 7) stated “[w]hile some of 
Hannah’s grandchildren were baptized and buried at the mission church at Golden Lake, many 
non-Algonquin families used the church’s services…”  
 
The Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) notes that some of the grandchildren 
of Hannah Mannell and Charles Thomas were baptized and buried at the mission church at 
Golden Lake.52 The Archives of Ontario Cemetery Record Collection provides a summary of 
“Our Lady of Nativity Roman Catholic Church” on the Algonquin reserve at Golden Lake (now 
Pikwakanagan). The chapel was first constructed in 1872 with the aid of Irish and French 
settlers, and was considered a satellite of the church at Eganville. Some services for the Thomas 
family were conducted at the Eganville church. The summary also states that “some Irish and 

 
48  ALG-90195, ALG-90196, ALG-90167 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 

12) on page 17. 
49  ALG-90191, ALG-40271 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 13. 
50  ALG-50575 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 13. 
51  ALG-40588 
52  ALG-05772 Example baptism in 1873. cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 

17. 
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French are also buried here, more towards the back of the cemetery,” indicating that the 
cemetery was not used solely for Algonquins.53 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no further comments. 

4.2 Document 11.2 responding submission from L Hanley 
This section of the submission consists of 26 pages. Most of this material was included in a 
previous submission (posted as Document 5), which was responded to by the Enrolment Officer 
(posted as Document 12).  
 
The submission includes references and notes about Wahgoshig First Nation which noted that 
unspecified “Native People” were first encountered by Europeans around Lake Abitibi in the 
early 1600. A reserve was created there as a result of the signing of Treaty 9 in 1906. The 
reserve is politically aligned with Algonquin Anishinabeg Nation Tribal Council. The map 
produced by Peter Di Gangi showing “Algonquin Territory circa 1850-1867” follows the height 
of land of the Ottawa River watershed. It does not extend as far north as Lake Abitibi and does 
not encompass the subject area which includes Frederick House, Nighthawk Lake, and points 
farther west.  
 
The submission also references modern-day Indigenous communities that are Algonquin or 
include Algonquin people. As stated in Section 2.1.c above, the groups who own reserves and 
reside in Indigenous settlements today have often been displaced from the territories held by 
their ancestors over two centuries ago. Indigenous territories have shifted considerably 
between the time of contact and introduction of the commercial fur trade, the signing of Treaty 
9 and related agreements (1906-8), and the current configuration of reserves and Indigenous 
settlements. A detailed overview was provided in this report in section 2.1.c regarding the issue 
of Indigenous migrations and shifting territory focusing on the region around Moose Factory, 
Kenogamissi on the Mattagami River, Frederick House, and Lake Abitibi.54 The summary in that 
report is pertinent to identifying traditional territory during the relevant period; it cautions 
against drawing conclusions based on the current location and identity of modern-day First 
Nations.  
 
The submission includes a narrative relating the history between colonial governments and 
various Indigenous people, including historic Algonquins. This document does not specifically 
address the subject area in the relevant period.  
 

 
53  ALG-40267 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 17. 
54  ALG-40561 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12) on page 22. Between 

1794 and 1822 Moose Factory was the HBC headquarters for the Kenogamissi River District. That district 
operated posts at Kenogamissi, Frederick House, Matawagamingue, Flying Post, Pushquagamy Lake, 
Wowayaston Carrying Place and Wyaskah Lake. Kenogamissi Post was established specifically to prevent the 
“Canadians” who came into the country through the Lake Abitibi route from capturing the trade from the local 
Indigenous trappers. 
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The Respondent’s statement that “The people at Golden Lake (Pikwakanagan) were forced to 
purchase their own lands in 1873” is not accurate. The government of Canada paid the Province 
of Ontario for the land, and letters patented were issued in 1873 and the land set aside as an 
Indian Reserve in the meaning of the Indian Act. In 1870 the Indian Department proposed that 
the lots be sold to the Indian Department which submitted a payment of $156.10 at 10 cents 
per acre for lots 3 to 10 in the 9th Concession and Lots 5 to 10 in the 10th concession of South 
Algona. Ontario issued the patent on September 17, 1873 in the name of the Superintendent 
General of Indian Affairs.55  
 
The submission includes a statement entitled “Hannah Mannal conception and Birth.” 
The Respondent presents several established facts noted in previous submissions. The 
submission that Hannah’s mother was Algonquin from the Lake Abitibi, while possible, is not 
substantiated. That conclusion depends on whether, at that time, that area was occupied by 
Algonquins as the relevant time and the extent of that occupation. The issue of the various 
options for the traditional area of her mother’s family and the place at which John Mannell and 
Hannah’s mother formed their union is examined in detail in the Enrolment Officer’s Report 
(posted as Document 1) and in her Responding Report (posted as Document 12).  
 
The Respondent states that John Mannell was at Frederick House in December 1794, when 
Hannah would have been conceived. This is not correct. An examination of the records shows 
that John Mannell was at Kenogamissi Lake from July 1794 and remained there. Immediately 
preceding his trip to establish Kenogamissi he was posted at Frederick House but also made 
various inland trips and journeys to Moose Factory.56 (Closest to the time of Hannah’s 
conception John Mannell mapped the inland area while he was assigned to Frederick House. 
For example, from April 28 to May 15, 1794 he surveyed the lakes and rivers west of Frederick 
House to the Mattagami River and Lake Kenogamissi. He then returned to Frederick House for a 
month, leaving there for Moose Factory on June 15. After completing his business in Moose 
Factory, he took a building crew and supplies to Kenogamissi Lake arriving there on July 20, 
1794 about five months prior to Hannah’s conception. These movements are detailed in the 
Enrolment Officer’s reports (posted as Document 1, pages 7-8, 17-18, 24-25; Document 12, 
pages 15-16). 
 
Again, the Enrolment Officer cautions against assuming that the tribal identity of a group that 
holds a modern-day reserve, such as Wahgoshig, were the same people that occupied the land 
two centuries earlier. In addition, there is no historic record specifically indicating that Hannah’s 
mother was from that area.  
 
The Respondent takes the position that Charles Thomas and his wife Hannah went to Lake of 
Two Mountains to connect with Hannah’s Algonquin roots. This submission is worth 
considering within the historical context of the family’s movements. As outlined in the 
Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1, pages 9-12). The chronology is as follows: 

 
55  ALG-40589  
56  Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 8. 
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• 1814-June: Charles, Hannah and their oldest child (born October 1812) left Moose 
Factory with Charles’ father John Thomas and siblings. Both John and Charles had left 
the employ of the HBC. They settled in Vaudreuil.  

• 1815 to 1822: Charles rejoined the HBC and served at posts in Athabasca, Cumberland 
House and Peace River (modern-day Saskatchewan). Four children were born in this 
period from May 1815 to February 1822. 

• 1822: Charles Thomas returned to Lower Canada. He served in the HBC’s Montreal 
Department. He was employed by the HBC as a clerk at Lake of Two Mountains (1824-
1825; 1829-ca. 1831) and Chats Post (1828-1829). 

• 1824: Hannah and Charles were legally married at St. James Anglican Church at Hudson 
Heights, Vaudreuil. Five children (born 1812-1822) were baptized at the same time (four 
more children were born in Lower Canada 1824 to July 1832). 

• 1825: Charles Thomas was enumerated in Vaudreuil on the 1825 Lower Canada census. 
(Document 1, page 12.) Charles was serving as a clerk in the HBC post at Lake of Two 
Mountains at the time. The Lake of Two Mountains post was located on the south side 
of Lake of Two Mountains around present-day Hudson, Quebec in Vaudreuil Lower 
Canada. The mission at Lake of Two Mountains was located across the lake on the north 
side. 

• No records from 1822 to 1832 indicate that Hannah Mannell and/or her spouse Charles 
Thomas had any interaction with Algonquins and Nipissings at the Lake of Two 
Mountains mission. It is possible that Charles had a commercial relationship with some 
Indigenous trappers as he was employed by the HBC as a clerk at Lake of Two 
Mountains (1824-1825; 1829-ca. 1831) and Chats Post (1828-1829). The Lake of Two 
Mountains post was located on the south side of Lake of Two Mountains around present 
day Hudson, Quebec. Chats Post was located further up the Ottawa River on the Quebec 
side near present-day Arnprior.57 Note that the Algonquin/Nipissing village at Lake of 
Two Mountains (Oka) was located on the north side of Lake of Two Mountains. 
Algonquins and Nipissings came to this village during the summer season, returning to 
their hunting grounds up the Ottawa River in the fall. The area the Lake of Two 
Mountains mission and Vaudreuil was occupied by settlers. 

• 1832: Charles was sent to man the HBC’s Bonne Chere post on Golden Lake.58  
• 1834: The complaint from Chief Makwa regarding Charles Thomas and his family was 

written in the late winter of 1834. 
• 1836-38: Two children were born at Golden Lake to Hannah and Charles. 
• The family remained at Golden Lake and many grandchildren were born and raised in 

the area. Hannah and her family were enumerated on the 1861 census in Algona, 
Renfrew County her husband was noted as a farmer; their home had been built in 1833. 
The family bible notes her date of death as April 6, 1868.59 The Respondent states that 

 
57  ALG-40590  
58  ALG-40575 The description for this HBC post states that “Charles Thomas was sent from the Chats to Golden 

Lake in 1832.” 
59  ALG-14709 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 11. 
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she died there on March 14, 1873. The 1871 census listed Charles Thomas as a 
widower,60 so the 1868 date is more likely to be correct. 
 

The Respondent referenced the 2013 decision of Justice Chadwick and the “the federal and 
provincial governments recognition of Hannah Mannal as being Algonquin.” As noted above in 
section 2.1.a, the Special Resolution that guides the mandate of the Tribunal specifies in Clause 
77 that: “Any matter brought to the Tribunal for determination shall be heard and be 
determined as a new proceeding, but this does not preclude the Tribunal from considering 
decisions made by other decision-making bodies including with respect to past enrolment 
processes.” 
 
Neither the federal nor the provincial governments play an active role in recognizing historic 
persons listed on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. 

4.2 Document 11.3 responding submission from L. Hanley 
The Respondent submitted a 29-page report which included church records from HBC company 
at Moose Factory, the John Mannell HBC biographical record, and written text, including 
transcriptions of John Mannell’s journal entries from 1803 onwards. 
 
The Respondent argues that the reasons why John Mannell would have only taken a country 
wife while at Frederick House was because “there was no one to choose from,” and that his 
indigenous wife and children were merely “chattels.”  
 
The excerpts do not add any new information that assists in identifying the tribal affiliation of 
Hannah Mannell’s mother nor do they support the submission that she came from Frederick 
House. 
 
As noted in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12) and 
summarized in section 3.9.b above, fulsome studies of the role of Indigenous women in fur 
trade society and the evolution of their status and role are presented by scholars Jennifer 
Brown and Sylvia van Kirk in their publications Strangers in Blood and Many Tender Ties. 

4.3 Document 11.4 responding submission by L. Hanley 
The Respondent submitted a 24-page report which included the HBC Record of Charles Thomas, 
previously noted in the Enrolment Officer’s Report on pages 11 to 12 (posted as Document 1), 
and another copy of the HBC Moose Factory records, as submitted in the previous document.  
 
The Respondent supplied transcribed summaries and quotations for Charles Thomas’s diary 
(1850-1852) to support her submission that Charles Thomas and Hannah Mannell had a “close 
respectful and mutually supportive relationship” with the Algonquins and “continued socializing 
with and trading with the Algonquin people around the Lake.” 
 

 
60  ALG-27589 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 14. 
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The Enrolment Officer does not disagree with the observation that the diary reflects a social 
and commercial relationship. However, it does not speak directly to the Algonquins having a 
familial relationship with Charles Thomas and Hannah Mannell, or to them being directly 
included or considered a part of the Algonquin Community at Golden Lake. For example, 
neither Charles Thomas nor his sons signed the petition asking the government to establish a 
Reserve at Golden Lake in 1857.61 In addition, the Respondent does not include the numerous 
diary entries which recount interactions with non-Algonquin individuals who also visited 
Charles Thomas at his stopping place.62  
 
The Respondent notes the names of five men who petitioned for the Reserve at Golden Lake in 
1857. The Enrolment Officer points out that these men were direct sons-in-law and grandsons 
of Chief Makwa, aka Jean Baptiste Otiskwekijik (RIN 7277), who had complained about Charles 
Thomas and his sons trapping on their grounds.63 
 
The Respondent also provided a transcript of the obituary for Charles Thomas, which describes 
him as being one of the oldest “pioneers” on the Bonnechere River. 
 
The Respondent also argues that Charles Thomas was not sent by the HBC to establish a Post at 
Golden Lake, as his HBC record does not stipulate this, and no such Post existed. As noted in 
section 4.1 above, survey maps from 1848 and 1853 shows the location of the “Old HBC Post” 
in relation to the Thomas House.64 The Archives of Manitoba HBC records list the Post as being 
named Bonne Chere, having been established in 1825, with specific reference to Charles 
Thomas being sent to the Post at Golden Lake in 1832.65 

4.4 Document 11.5 responding submission by L. Hanley 
The Respondent submitted a 3-page written report which is a direct response to the submission 
by Chief Wendy Jocko (posted as Document 7) on the Tribunal website. The Respondent makes 
6 points: 
 

1) The Respondent stipulates her assertion that Hannah Mannell’s mother was Abitibi 
Algonquin based on documents and information supplied by the Respondent and a 
further submission by R. Nicholas.  

 
As stated in Section 2.1.c above ,the groups who own reserves and reside in Indigenous 
settlements today have often been displaced from the territories held by their ancestors over 
two centuries ago. Indigenous territories have shifted considerably between the time of contact 
and introduction of the commercial fur trade, the signing of Treaty 9 and related agreements 
(1906-8), and the current configuration of reserves and Indigenous settlements. A detailed 
overview was provided in this report regarding the issue of Indigenous migrations and shifting 

 
61 ALG-90735 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 14. 
62 ALG-50987 [01-01], ALG-50987 [00-01] 
63 ALG-40591 
64 ALG-50575, ALG-40588 
65 ALG-40575 



Enrolment Officer’s Reply Report regarding Ancestor RIN #18786 

29 

territory focusing on the region around Moose Factory, Kenogamissi on the Mattagami River, 
Frederick House, and Lake Abitibi.66 The summary in that report is pertinent to identifying 
traditional territory during the relevant period; it cautions against drawing conclusions based 
on the current location and identity of modern-day First Nations.  
 
No historical record has been submitted that clearly shows the Hannah’s mother was an 
Algonquin woman from Lake Abitibi. 
 

2) The Respondent stipulates that it does not matter where Hannah was conceived or 
born, rather than the racial identification of Hannah’s mother, which was Algonquin 
from Lake Abitibi.  

 
No historical record has been submitted that clearly shows the Hannah’s mother was an 
Algonquin woman from Lake Abitibi. 
 
There is no historical record that clearly indicates the traditional area occupied by Hannah’s 
maternal family. Conjecture regarding the timing between her parent’s union and conception 
and the known movements of John Mannall suggest that several areas are possible (Frederick 
House, Kenogamissi or Moose Factory). No definitive conclusion can be drawn from the 
available historical documentation. Having said that, it is nonetheless important to consider 
which Indigenous nation occupied these districts at the relevant time in order to further assess 
the likelihood that Hannah Mannell’s mother was, or was not, Algonquin. 
 

3) The Respondent asserts that Hannah and her husband moved to Golden Lake after 
having lived in the large Algonquin community of Lake of Two Mountains, and did not 
set up an HBC trading post at Golden Lake. 

 
As noted in the Enrolment Officers Report on page 12, the 1825 census for Vaudreuil County, 
Lower Canada (Quebec) lists a Charles Thomas living with another couple, a total of 17 people 
in the household.67 The names of the individuals living in the household were not listed and no 
other identifiers, such as ethnicity or religion, were given on this census. It is worth noting that 
the Thomas family was not enumerated with the Algonquin or Nipissing Villages at the Lake of 
Two Mountains mission which was a separate and distinct census return.68 No documentation 
has been provided to determine that the Thomas family lived “within” the Algonquin 
Community at Lake of Two Mountains.  
 

 
66 ALG-40561 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Responding Report (posted as Document 12) on page 22. Between 

1794 and 1822 Moose Factory was the HBC headquarters for the Kenogamissi River District. That district 
operated posts at Kenogamissi, Frederick House, Matawagamingue, Flying Post, Pushquagamy Lake, 
Wowayaston Carrying Place and Wyaskah Lake. Kenogamissi Post was established specifically to prevent the 
“Canadians” who came into the country through the Lake Abitibi route from capturing the trade from the local 
Indigenous trappers. 

67 ALG-40251 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 12. 
68 ALG-40054 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 12. 
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It is correct that Charles Thomas worked at the HBC Post at Lake of Two Mountains as per his 
HBC record. The HBC post at Lake of Two Mountains post was located on the south side of Lake 
of Two Mountains around present day Hudson, QC in Vaudreuil Lower Canada. 69 The mission at 
Lake of Two Mountains was located across the lake on the north side. 
 
In addition, while Charles was working at the HBC Post his children were baptised at an 
Anglican Church in Hudson Heights, Quebec rather than at the mission of Lake of Two 
Mountains/Oka, where known Algonquins had their services take place. There are no records 
directly related to the Algonquin/Nipissing villages at Lake of Two Mountains that include the 
Thomas family, such as census or church records. 
 
With regards to the HBC Post at Golden Lake, please see Section 4.3 above, that references the 
documentation showing the HBC Post at Golden Lake as having been established in 1825 and 
Charles Thomas being sent there in 1832. The section also references two early survey maps 
that mark the location of the post.  
 

4) The Respondent disputes the assertion that Chief Makwa complaining about Charles 
hunting on his ground, that the Chief owned no land and had no basis to complain, and 
that he was racist against Charles Thomas.  

 
The February 1834 complaint by Chief Makwa against Charles Thomas and his son trapping on 
his family hunting grounds is documented in correspondence and cited in the Enrolment 
Officer’s Report on pages 12-13 (posted as Document 1). In that complaint, Chief Makwa  
asks the government to order “Chs Thomas and family … to quit these lands …also Prohibit all 
White Hunters and other Interlopers, from trespassing on their hunting Grounds.”70 
 

5) The Enrolment has no comment on the statements in this section further to the 
points that were already raised by the Respondent and replied to in reply reports. 

5. Document 8 – Responding Submissions by R. Nicholas re V. Coburn 
Submission  
The Tribunal received a responding submission from R. Nicholas in support of retaining the 
ancestor Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The 
submission is posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/ 
 
The submission appears on the website as: 

• Document 8 – Responding Submission by R. Nicholas re V. Coburn Submission 
 
The Respondent replies to statements made in the submission by V. Coburn (posted as 
Document 6). The content of the Respondent’s submission has been replied to in the Enrolment 

 
69 ALG-40590 
70 ALG-90196 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1) on page 12. 
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Officer’s Responding Report in Section 2 (posted as Document 12) and in the Enrolment 
Officer’s Report responding to V. Coburn (posted as Document 13). 

6. Document 16 – Submission by M. Lamothe  
The Tribunal received a responding submission from M. Lamothe in support of retaining the 
ancestor Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The 
submission is posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/ 
 
The submission appears on the website as: 

• Document 16 – Submission by M. Lamothe 
 
The Respondent reproduced the 2013 decision of Justice Chadwick regarding the addition of 
Hannah Mannell to the Preliminary List of Algonquin Ancestors. The Respondent made no 
comment with regard to the 2013 decision. 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no comments. 

7. Document 17 – Reply Submission by R. Nicholas  
The Tribunal received a responding submission from R. Nicholas in support of retaining the 
ancestor Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The 
submission is posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/ 
 
The submission appears on the website as: 

• Document 17 – Reply Submission by R. Nicholas 
 
Scholarly documents and historic maps cited by the Enrolment Officer are discussed in her 
reports (posted as Documents 1 and Document 12). The Enrolment Officer provided these 
documents in order to provide historical and geographic context to the broad area in which 
John Mannell was known to work and travel which includes: Moose Factory on James Bay; 
Brunswick House and New Brunswick House, on the Missinaibi river system; Kenogamissi, on 
Lake Kenogamissi at the head of the Mattagami River, and Frederick House, west of Lake Abitibi 
on Frederick House Lake. John Mannell traveled throughout this area and surveyed routes both 
south and west of Lake Abitibi. 
 
Langue de Terre or Sowewaminican was located south of Lake Abitibi on the route to Lake 
Timiskaming. 

7.1 Brunswick House and New Brunswick House 
The Respondent states that John Mannell never worked at “New Brunswick House”. As noted in 
the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1), the official HBC biographical sheet for 
John Mannell shows that he was assigned to “Brunswick House” as a “writer” in the outfit years 

https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/
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1788 to 1792.71 To avoid any confusion regarding names, the Enrolment Officer notes that the 
trading post that became known as “Brunswick House” was originally called Wapiscogamy. It is 
shown on the HBC post map as B.23. 72 Wapiscogamy was built in 1777 by John Thomas near 
the junction of Opasatika and Missinaibi Rivers. It served as a halfway post between Lake 
Superior and the posts on James Bay.73 The trading post that became known as “New 
Brunswick House” was originally called Micabanish House. It was located on Micabanish Lake 
(now Brunswick Lake) and was built in 1788. It is shown on the HBC post map as B.145.74 Both 
Brunswick House and New Brunswick House were located on the Missanabi River system that 
empties into James Bay at Moose Factory. 
 
The sketch circa 1789-90 attributed to Edward Jarvis shows Mannell at Frederick House and 
notes the location of New Brunswick House to the west, under the charge of William Bolland.75 
Bolland is noted in the Manitoba Archives Keystone Archive Descriptive Database as the master 
in charge in 1788-89, 1791, 1792-1794. Post Journals for New Brunswick House are extant at 
the Archives of Manitoba beginning in 1788. 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no further comments on the relevance of the 1901 census at Lake 
Abitibi. This was address in her Responding Report (posted as Document 12).  

8. Document 18 – Reply Submission by L. Hanley  
The Tribunal received a responding submission from L. Hanley in support of retaining the 
ancestor Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The 
submission is posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/ 
 
The submission appears on the website as: 

• Document 18 – Reply Submission by L. Hanley 
 
The Respondent replies to submissions by the Enrolment Officer (posted as Documents 1 and 
12) and Chief Greg Sarazin (posted as Document 14). 
 
The Enrolment Officer states that records regarding Hannah Mannell’s husband Charles Thomas 
and their children are referenced in her reports for the purpose of confirming the identities, 
whereabouts, and activities of the family. The Enrolment Officer’s report does not question the 
actions of family members but merely reports on information contained in documents. 
 

 
71 ALG-40230 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report on page 7. An outfit year ran from June 1 to May 31, meaning 

he stationed there from June 1, 1788 to May 31, 1792. 
72 ALG-40593 
73 ALG-40594 
74 ALG-40593  
75 ALG-40221 cited in the Enrolment Officer’s Report (posted as Document 1). 
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The assignment of Charles Thomas to various HBC posts has been documented in the 
Enrolment Officer’s reports (posted as Documents 1 and 12). The Enrolment Officer has no 
further comments on this section. 
 
The Enrolment Officer has no comments on oral family history. 
 
The role and mandate of the Tribunal has been explained in previous reports (posted as 
Documents 1 and 12). The Enrolment Officer has no further comments on the Tribunal process. 

9. Document 19 – Reply Submission by L. Minor Vahey  
The Tribunal received a responding submission from L. Minor Vahey in support of retaining the 
ancestor Hannah Mannall/Mannell (RIN #18786) on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The 
submission is posted on the Tribunal’s website at: 
https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/ 
 
The submission appears on the website as: 

• Document 19 –Reply Submission by L. Minor Vahey 
 
The Respondent replies to submissions by Chief Wendy Jocko (posted as Document 7), Chief 
Greg Sarazin (posted as Document 14) and the Enrolment Officer (posted as Documents 1 and 
12). 
 
The alleged error in the Daryl Leroux Report that is appended to Chief Jocko’s submission is 
noted and discussed in the Enrolment Officer’s Reply (posted as Document 15). 
 
The Enrolment Officer’s Report contained a considerable amount of documentation regarding 
Hannah Mannell’s father and husband as these records provide information about Hannah, her 
birth, and possible origins. 
 
The Respondent states that Hannah Mannell’s mother “was an Algonquin woman from Fort 
Temiskaming.” No new documentation is provided to substantiate this statement. 
 
The Respondent appends a September 2010 notice of a meeting at Foy Park regarding the 
removal of Charles Thomas and his mother from the Preliminary List of Algonquin Ancestors. 
The Enrolment Officer has no comment on this notice. 

https://www.tanakiwin.com/tribunal/hannah-mannell-3/
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Appendix A: Supporting Document List for Hannah Mannell 
The documents in this table are listed by ALG number and appended in Appendix B. 

 
Document 
Number 

Document Date Document Description Reference 

ALG-40575 2023-04-04 
(accessed) 

HBC Post Description of 
Bonne Chere 

Provincial Archives of Manitoba. 
http://pam.minisisinc.com/SCRIPTS/MWIMAIN.DLL/321633125 
/1/14/216?RECORD&DATABASE=AUTHORITY_WEB_INT, 

ALG-40587 2023-04-14 
(accessed) 

HBC Post Description of 
Moose River District 

Provincial Archives of Manitoba. 
http://pam.minisisinc.com/SCRIPTS/MWIMAIN.DLL/459296280/ 
1/8/24?RECORD&DATABASE=AUTHORITY_WEB_INT 

ALG-40588 1853-00-00 Topographical Plan of the 
River Bonnechere & S.W. 
Branch of the Madawaska 
with a Sketch of the 
Headwaters of the 
Ottonabee 

Topographical Plan of the River Bonnechere & S.W. Branch of the 
Madawaska with a Sketch of the Headwaters of the Ottonabee by A. Murray 
Esqr. Ottawa: Geological Survey of Canada, 1853. 

ALG-40589 1873-09-17 Indian Land Registry Record 
for purchase of land set 
aside for the Golden Lake 
Reserve 

Archives of Ontario F 1027-1-8 File 11 Reel MS 1779; Letters Patent 
September 17, 1873. INAC Indian Land Registry Reserve General Register - 
Golden Lake Doc. X013983D. Report of the Indian Branch of the Department 
of the Secretary of State for the Provinces [1871]. Ottawa: I. B Taylor, 1872, 
page 50. 

ALG-40590 2023-04-14 
(accessed) 

HBC Map of Posts in 
Southern Quebec including 
Lake of Two Mountains 

Archives of Manitoba. “Hudson's Bay Company Archives – HBC Fur Trade 
Post Map.” 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/post_maps/quebec.html#south-
qc  
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Document 
Number 

Document Date Document Description Reference 

ALG-40591 2023-04-00 Chart to show relationship 
between Chief Makwa and 
the five men who signed the 
Petition to establish a 
Reserve at Golden Lake. 

Joan Holmes & Associates Inc. “Founding Fathers of Golden Lake and 
connections to other Algonquin Families.” April 2023. 

ALG-40593 2023-04-24 
(accessed) 

HBC Map of Posts in Eastern 
Ontario including Brunswick 
and New Brunswick House 

Archives of Manitoba. HBC Post Map of East Ontario. 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/post_maps/ontario.html#east-
on  

ALG-40594 2003-00-00 Canadian Biography of John 
Thomas 

Mitchell, Elaine Allan. “Thomas, John.” Dictionary of Canadian Biography, 
Vol. 6. Toronto & Montreal: University of Toronto/Université Laval, 2003. 
Accessed April 27, 2023, 
http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/thomas_john_6E.html  

ALG-50987 
[00-01] 

1850-09-19 Transcripts of the Diary of 
Charles Thomas 

LAC MG 24-I82 Vol. 2 

ALG-50987 
[01-01] 

1851-11-01  Transcripts of the Diary of 
Charles Thomas 

LAC MG 24-I82 Vol. 2 

 
  

https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/post_maps/ontario.html#east-on
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/post_maps/ontario.html#east-on
http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/thomas_john_6E.html
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Appendix B: Supporting Document Package for Hannah Mannell 
 

The documents are organized by ALG document number.  
They appear in the same order as in the list in Appendix A and are bookmarked for ease of reference. 
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• History and function of this entity
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History and Function

Name Bonne Chere

Dates of Existence [1825]-1840

Function Bonne Chere was an outpost and a trading post.

Administrative History Although it is uncertain, it appears that John McLean was ordered to establish a
post on the Bonne Chere River at Golden Lake in 1825. The post may have also
been known as Golden Lake. In 1831 John McDougall, clerk in charge of Chats,
was also responsible for Bonne Chere. Charles Thomas was sent from the Chats to
Golden Lake in 1832. McDougall moved to Bonne Chere in 1836. During the summer
of 1839 Governor George Simpson inspected the post and recommended that it be
closed. The house and post at Bonne Chere were destroyed by fire in the beginning
of September, 1839 and all McDougall's property was lost. Since the post was a
financial liability and McDougall wished to retire, the post was abandoned in 1840.

Other names Bonnechere

Bonnechere River

Bonchere

Golden Lake

Key People Click here for a list of Key People involved with this Entity

[Top]

Controlling Entities

Bonne Chere reported directly to the following entities:

[1825]-1830 Hudson's Bay Company. Fort Coulonge
1831-1836 Hudson's Bay Company. Chats
1837-1840 Hudson's Bay Company. Fort Coulonge
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Hudson's Bay Company. Moose River District 

• History and function of this entity

• Controlling Entities
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• Archival records series created by this entity

History and Function

Name Moose River District

Dates of Existence 1672-1686, 1730-1901

Function The Moose River District administered the fur trade posts in the region of the Moose
River and its tributaries.

Administrative History Moose River District was established with the creation of Moose Factory in 1672, to
administer the fur trade inland from the factory. Moose Factory served as the district
headquarters except for a brief period between 1783-1787 when Eastmain took the
helm. Between 1822-1824, it was also in charge of the posts along the Eastmain
River on the eastern shore of James Bay.

In 1901, as part of wider restructuring of North American operations, the Moose
River District was dissolved and became the James Bay District.

Other names Moose District

Moose River Department

Key People Click here for a list of Key People involved with this Entity

[Top]

Controlling Entities

Moose River District reported directly to the following entities:

1672-1686, 1730-1810 Hudson's Bay Company. Governor and Committee
1810-1892 Hudson's Bay Company. Southern Department
1892-1901 Hudson's Bay Company. Commissioner's Office

[Top]
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Entities that preceded and/or succeeded this entity

Successor Entities Hudson's Bay Company. James Bay District

[Top]
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7343 Moose River District and Southern Department districts reports

7510 Moose River District and James Bay District accounts letterbooks
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Topographical Plan of the River Bonnechere & S.W. Branch of the Madawaska with a Sketch of the
Headwaters of the Ottonabee by A. Murray Esqr. Ottawa: Geological Survey of Canada, 1853.
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Founding Fathers of Golden Lake and connections to other Algonquin Families.

      

*All five men highlighted in yellow sign the original petition to establish a Reserve at Golden Lake in 1857.

Jean Baptiste Otiskwekijik (Muckwa) (7277) marries in 1798 at Oka to Susanne Pikiwitokwe (7280)

Marie Angelique Ozawikwe (7381) married at Oka in 
1816 to Michael Pessindawatch (7206).

Children of this couple marry into the Shawanapinesi, 
Tenaskon and Stoqua families.

Marie Anne Kiwekijikokwe (7100) married at Oka in 
1824 to Ignace Chawenasiketch (7099).

Children of this couple marry in the Konini and 
Whiteduck families.  

Marguerite Otakwekabawikwe (6596) married at Oka 
in 1847 to Joseph Teneskon (6594).

Children of this couple marry into the Commandant 
and Kikons families. 

Joseph’s father is Antoine Tanaskon (6515) who is 
listed on the Bedford petition along with Peter 
Shawanapinesi.

Son Paul Pesanawatch (6296) born 1824 at Oka.

Marries Madeleine Chevalier, a descendant of 
Amable Pakwakona, at St James the Lesser RC 
Church, Eganville in 1851.

Children of this couple marry into the Leclerc and 
Lamure families. 

Daughter Cecile Wakitadjiwanokwe (6637) married 
at Oka in 1841 to Benoit Konini (6634).

Children of this couple marry into the Whiteduck and 
Kijicomanitou families.

Benoit Konini’s sister Marie Angelique 
Chawananokwe (6627) marries Benjamin Leclerc 
(2172).

ALG-40591

Joan Holmes & Associates Inc. “Founding Fathers of Golden Lake and connections to other Algonquin Families.” April 2023.

Michael Pessindawatch Ignace Chawenasiketch Joseph Teneskon

Benoit Konini
Paul Pesanawatch



ALG-40593

HBC Post Map of East Ontario 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/hbca/post_maps/ontario.html#east-on Accessed on 24th April, 2023
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LABATT, JOHN – Volume XIV
(1911-1920)
d. 27 April 1915 in London, Ont.

Confederation

Responsible
Government

Sir John A. Macdonald

From the Red River
Settlement to Manitoba
(1812–70)

THOMAS, JOHN, fur trader; b. c. 1751 apparently in London; m. first Margaret
(d. 1813), an Indian or mixed-blood woman, and they had nine children;
m. secondly Meenish; d. 9 June 1822 and was buried 12 June in Christ Church
cemetery, Montreal.

Following the surrender of New France in 1760, the Hudson’s Bay Company
factories on Hudson and James bays found themselves subjected to increasing
pressure inland by independent traders from Quebec, whom the HBC men
scornfully called pedlars. In 1770 the HBC’s London committee, convinced that
the company must establish posts to meet the competition, ordered its officers to
explore the interior with a view to setting up posts. As a result, Cumberland
House (Sask.) was built in 1774 by men from York Factory (Man.), and that same
year the Moose Factory (Ont.) council sent John Thomas, who had joined the
service as a writer in 1769, with three Indians to survey a route to Lake Abitibi.
Thomas thus became the first company officer to visit the pedlars at Fort Abitibi
(near La Sarre, Que.) and his journal contains a detailed description of the house
and its occupants. In 1775 he journeyed east from Moose Factory across Hannah
Bay (Ont.) and then up the Rivière Nottaway (Que.), and in the following year he
travelled west up the Moose River (Ont.). All these explorations were preliminary
steps toward the settlement of posts in Moose Factory’s hinterland.

In 1777 the HBC built Wapiscogamy House (near the junction of the Opasatika
and Missinaibi rivers) as a “Halfway House” towards Lake Superior, and in the
same year Thomas was instructed to establish a post at Michipicoten
(Michipicoten River). The navigational hazards of the Michipicoten River,
however, led him to settle instead on Missinaibi Lake, at the head of the
Missinaibi River. Unfortunately provisions proved difficult to find locally, and in
January 1778 Thomas retired to Wapiscogamy House, of which he assumed
command. From then until Missinaibi House was abandoned in 1780 Thomas
spent most of his time at Wapiscogamy, leaving Missinaibi to servants. Although
appointed in 1779 second to Edward Jarvis*, chief at Moose Factory, he soon
returned to Wapiscogamy House, remaining there until he succeeded Jarvis in
1782. In 1795 McTavish, Frobisher and Company, which held a controlling
interest in the North West Company, bought the Timiskaming posts from Grant,
Campion and Company of Montreal with a view to extending the NWC’s trade to
James Bay. Alarmed at the threat to Moose Factory, and apparently on his own
initiative, Thomas instituted negotiations with the Nor’Westers for dividing the
area’s trade between the two companies, even travelling as far as Michipicoten in
1799 in the hope of meeting William M G . Although his efforts failed and
the Nor’Westers settled at Moose Factory and elsewhere in the James Bay region
in 1800, entering it by sea three years later, Thomas nevertheless successfully
defended his posts and in 1806 his opponents abandoned all their stations there.

In 1810 the HBC adopted its “retrenching system,” which called for financial
moderation and instituted profit sharing for men in senior trading positions.
Under this scheme, which also reorganized the posts into Northern and Southern
departments, Thomas stayed on as chief at Moose Factory, serving under Thomas
T , superintendent of the Southern Department. Three years later he was

Biography – THOMAS, JOHN – Volume VI (1821-1835) – Dictionary o... http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/thomas_john_6E.html
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Mitchell, Elaine Allan. “Thomas, John.” Dictionary of Canadian Biography, Vol. 6. Toronto & Montreal: University of Toronto/
Université Laval, 2003. Accessed April 27, 2023, http://www.biographi.ca/en/bio/thomas_john_6E.html 
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dismissed for “mismanagement, negligence and disobedience,” apparently in
connection with his failure to develop agriculture at Moose. The retrenching
system demanded the raising of grain and cattle at the post to reduce the need for
European provisions, and Thomas can have had little faith in the policy. Perhaps,
too, he found it difficult to take second place. Instead of returning to England,
however, he travelled to Lower Canada by the Ottawa River with members of his
family, including his daughter Charlotte and her husband, Peter Spence. He
settled at Vaudreuil, where some of his collateral descendants still live.

In 1815 Thomas apparently applied to return to the service but the London
committee refused his request, although agreeing to employ his sons at Moose
Factory and offering him land in the Red River colony (Man.). There is no
evidence of his accepting the offer and he apparently remained in Vaudreuil until
his death in 1822. In 1824 the Prerogative Court of Canterbury in England
granted administration of his effects to his widow Meenish, who by that time had
remarried. About £1,600 of his estate was in the hands of Maitland, Garden, and
Auldjo, the former Montreal agents of the HBC, when that firm failed in 1826.

One of Thomas’s daughters, Ann, married Alexander Christie*, later governor
of Assiniboia, and a son, Charles, was a well-known company trader along the
Ottawa River and at nearby Golden Lake (Ont.).

E  A  M

ACC, Diocese of Moosonee Arch. (Schumacher, Ont.), Moose Factory and its
dependencies, reg. of baptisms, marriages, and burials (mfm. at AO). ANQ-M, CE1-63,
12 juin 1822; CN1-187, 19 janv. 1822. PAM, HBCA, A.11/46: f.2; B.1/a; B.59/a; B.75/a;
B.77/a; B.129/a; B.135/a/55; B.135/c/2; B.142/a; B.143/a; B.186/a; E.41 (mfm. at AO).
St James’ (Anglican) Church (Hudson Heights, Que.), Reg. of baptisms, marriages, and
burials, 16 Feb. 1824. St Mary’s (Anglican) Church (Como, Que.), Reg. of baptisms,
marriages, and burials. HBRS, 17 (Rich). C. C. Kennedy, The upper Ottawa valley
(Pembroke, Ont., 1970). Rich, Hist. of HBC (1958–59), vol.2.
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